٥ IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA ž3 1792 CLER PREME COURT Bv STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT Chief Ceputy Clerk OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY, Appellant, CASE NO. 79,371 FLA. BAR NO. 212008 RICHARD RAMPELL,

Appellee.

vs.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL JOHN J. RIMES, III ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Department of Legal Affairs Suite LL04, The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-5234

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The State of Florida, Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Accountancy, the Appellants, and Cross-Appellees in the instant cause, and Appellants and Defendants below, will be referred to herein as the Board of Accountancy or the Board.

Richard Rampell is the Appellee and Cross-Appellant in the instant cause, and was the Appellee and Plaintiff below, and will be hereinafter referred to as Rampell.

The record on appeal will be cited to parenthetically as (R-____) with the appropriate page number(s).

The decision of the district court below is reported at 589 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

The appendix with index is being filed under separate cover with the brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Complaint in this cause was filed on May 7, 1987 in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Court seeking a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief (R-1). The action challenged the constitutionality of various Florida Statutes as well as rules promulgated by the Florida Board of Accountancy which prohibit certified public accountants (CPAs) from engaging in any direct, in-person, uninvited solicitation of new clients (Section 473.323 (1)(L), F.S., and Rule 21A-24.002, F.A.C.), and in certain circumstances engaging in competitive bidding on attest function engagements (Section 473.317, F.S. and Rule 21A-24.003, F.A.C.).

These challenges were based upon alleged violations of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, paragraphs 2,4,9 and 10 and Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution. The jurisdiction of the circuit court was invoked under the provisions of Sections 86.11 and 120.73, F.S. Appellant answered the Complaint on June 23, 1987 (R-17). Both parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment (R-51, R-68), and the Circuit Court proceeded to trial on the stipulated evidence set forth in the record and, after hearing, the argument of counsel (R-78). Final Judgment was entered on September 28, 1989 (R-77), based on the evidence presented and found that Sections 473.317 and 473.323(1)(L), F.S., were unconstitutional and enjoined the Appellant from enforcing these statutes and consequently the rules promulgated thereto, 21A-24.002 and 21A-24.003, F.A.C. That judgment was appealed to the

- 2 -

Fourth District Court of Appeal on October 12, 1989 (R-83). On October 16, 1991 the Fourth District Court of Appeal, per Judge Warner, rendered its opinion (at 589 So.2d 1352 set out in full in Appendix A) reversing the Circuit Court's opinion that Rule 21A-24.002, F.A.C. was unconstitutional but affirming the Circuit Court's holding that Section 473.317, F.S. and Rule 21A-24.003, F.A.C., were facially unconstitutional as violative of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution (589 So.2d at 1358-60), Judge Stone dissented as to that portion of the District Court of Appeal's Opinion finding the abovementioned statute and rule unconstitutional (589 So.2d at 1360). Motions for Rehearing and Clarification were filed by both Appellant and Appellee and were denied on January 14, 1992. This appeal was filed on February 7, 1992. On February 13, 1992, Appellee filed a notice of cross-appeal.

- 3 -

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellee, Rampell, is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) employed by the firm of Rampell and Rampell, P.A., located in Palm Beach County, Florida. Rampell is licensed under the laws of the State of Florida as a CPA and is subject to Chapter 473, Florida Statutes and the rules and regulations promulgated in Chapter 21A, Florida Administrative Code, by the Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Accountancy.

As the circuit court noted in its final judgment below, the case "proceeded to trial on the introduction of stipulated evidence, argument of counsel and affidavits" (R-78). All parties agreed that the hearing held on September 25, 1989, would be considered as a final hearing on the merits which would result in the final judgment which was entered by the Circuit Court on September 28, 1989, (R-77).

This statement of facts will set out the Board's reading of the stipulated record below, as to the rules and statutes partially regulating competitive negotiation on attest engagements by CPAs--which is the issue before this Court on this appeal. This brief will not address the constitutionality of the statute and rules regulating direct, in-person, uninvited solicitation.¹

- 4 -

¹ The issue of the constitutionality of CPA's engaging in direct, in-person, uninvited solicitation was decided in favor of the Board by the Fourth District Court of Appeal; however, the Eleventh U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals has held the same rule to be unconstitutional, <u>Fane v. Edenfield</u>, 945 F.2d 1514 (11th Cir. 1991) cert. pending, U.S. S.Ct., Case No. 91-1594.

The regulations on competitive negotiation for audit and attest engagements, first appear in Florida Statutes in 1969 (although in the rules of the Board since at least 1945), see Section 473.30, F.S., and continued in existence with certain amendments through two sunset reviews by the Florida Legislature in 1979 and 1985. Florida is the only state which, by statute, regulates the form of competitive negotiations which a CPA may enter into when seeking an attest engagement. In Section 473.317(1)-(5)(a), F.S., there are provisions for competitive negotiation in the private sector (virtually identical to those set forth in Section 287.055, F.S., as to state, county and local procurement of the services of architects and engineers). Somewhat modified provisions for competitive negotiation for audits of municipalities and the legislature are set forth in Section 473.317(5)(b), F.S. The statute is set out in full in Appendix B.

Rules governing the procedures for competitive negotiation are found in Rule 21A-24.003, F.A.C., (set out in Appendix C). The statutes and regulations governing competitive negotiation for attest engagements in the State of Florida are limited to only those types of engagements. CPAs are permitted to engage in any form of price competition as long as the engagement being sought does not require that a CPA attest as to the " . . . reliability or fairness of presentation of financial information or utilize any form of disclaimer, which is intended or understood to convey an assurance of liability as to matters not

- 5 -

specifically disclaimed . . . " (Section 473.322(1)(c), F.S.)

The Board presented evidence from the publication "CPA Audit Quality--A Framework For Procuring Audit Services, United States General Accountancy Office, August 1987, (GAO AFM D-87-34) set out in full in Appendix D (Exhibit 1 to Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 to Dooner's Deposition, hereinafter GAO Report pp. ____) that on numerous occasions the Federal government and its constituent agencies, which do engage in competitive bidding on attest engagements, have found that price is the main or only procurement criteria for a CPA's services (GAO Report pp. 34-53). The only empirical data available, once again, from the GAO Report, shows that when price becomes the only or the main criteria for procurement that the technical quality of a CPA's opinion in attest engagements is more likely to be unacceptable (GAO Report pp. 34, 55-58).

The rules and the statute do not prohibit a CPA from providing a basis of fee to a client under several circumstances, e.g., during a competitive negotiation with the client wherein the CPA may propose one fee, the client may counter-propose, and the CPA could come back with another fee all during the same negotiation. It does not appear that the statute or rule foreclose a CPA from engaging in actual fee negotiation with a client. Further, any client who determines that he seeks a sole source for his audit work may request and receive a fee from a CPA who is so notified that he is the sole source, see Section 473.317(5)(a), F.S. If the CPA is already the existing auditor

- 6 -

for the client then once again, he may submit a basis of fee to the client, see Section 473.317(2), F.S. (which excludes from the regulation an offer to an existing client). All of these provisions indicate that the prohibitions contained in the statute and rule do not involve a complete bar to the presentation of fee information to a prospective client on the part of a CPA nor of negotiations about that proposed fee.

Section 473.315(5)(b), F.S., as well as Section 11.45(3) (a)4.j., F.S., provide for partial competitive negotiation including negotiation as to fee with regard to legislative, municipal and county audits filed with the Auditor General of the State of Florida. The provisions of these statutes essentially allow that, once ranking has occurred on the basis of qualifications (not including basis of fee) the governing body of the municipality or, in the case of the Legislature, the Joint Legislative Management Committee, may reopen negotiations with the first three ranked CPA firms essentially on a round robin basis. After talking with numbers 1, 2 and 3, and receiving a basis of fee from each, a city, for example, could go back to #2 and reopen negotiation knowing what the other two top-ranked auditors had proposed as to their fees and likewise with #2 knowing what they had proposed.²

² It should be noted that all the audits in question in the statutory exception are governmental audits and are required to be filed with the Auditor General of the State of Florida in accordance with rules developed by him and the State Board of Accountancy (See F.S. 11.45(3)(a)4.0.) and as such are subject to review and analysis as to compliance with technical standards both by the Auditor General and by the Board of Accountancy. Audits which are provided to private clients by CPAs are not susceptible as to review for technical compliance unless and

Once again, it cannot be emphasized enough that the restrictions on competitive negotiations set forth in Section 473.317, F.S., apply only to attest engagements and do not prohibit a CPA from quoting prices for all other services provided to a potential client, such as tax advice, management consulting or bookkeeping services.

until a complaint is filed against a CPA for providing a substandard product, see F.S. Section 455.227. Secondly, all negotiations relating to the selection of an auditor for a state county or local audit must be conducted in the "Sunshine" and all information surrounding the work performed on the audit are subject to the provisions of the Public Records law, see Sections 286.001 and 119.07, F.S. Audits for private clients, unless required to be filed with a public agency as a result of Florida or Federal statutes, are not open to review and indeed in certain circumstances, even when filed with a public agency may not be reviewed by the general public. All of these circumstances caused the Legislature to believe that under strict controls some competitive negotiation involving the top three-ranked firms based on qualifications and fees could be provided in audits for local governmental entities wherein privacy constraints set forth in the Florida Constitution (See Article I, Section 23, Florida Constitution (1968)) do not apply. Likewise, of course, audits of private clients may not be intended for general public distribution and may include information which could result in a detriment to the client if the same types of public disclosure requirements were made as presently exist for all audits of governmental entities in the State.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The partial regulation on competitive negotiations for attest engagements provided in Section 473.317, F.S., and Rule 21A-24.003, F.A.C., is rationally related to a valid governmental purpose and does not violate the due process clause of the Florida and Federal Constitutions. The statute and rule do not involve restrictions on commercial speech but are rather restrictions on certain forms of professional conduct with an incidental impact on speech.

Assuming arguendo that the statute and rule do restrict commercial speech, they involve acceptable restrictions on certain forms of commercial speech. The substantial governmental interest forwarded by the prohibition of various forms of competitive bidding on attest engagements is to require that clients, when determining whether to hire a CPA to perform an audit or review, must consider only the objective qualifications of the CPA to perform the engagement in determining what ranking to give the CPA or his firm amongst any potential auditor. The clear intent of the prohibition on CPAs submitting a basis of fee prior to being ranked on qualifications is to promote the state interest in making certain that attest engagements performed by CPAs or firms are performed competently in accordance with the technical standards promulgated by the Board of Accountancy under the provisions of Section 473.315, F.S., without regard to fee competition with other CPAs. The Legislature, in enacting Section 473.317, F.S., was concerned that if CPAs bid on engage-

- 9 -

ments wherein they were required to perform independently of the client's desires and to render an independent opinion on financial statements, CPAs would compromise their independence if they were required to compete with each other as to fees, as opposed to their objective qualifications, to perform the audit in question. The preservation of the attest function is the ultimate rationale for the licensing of Certified Public Accountants in this State. The impact of fee-based competition would, as found by the Legislature, inherently cause a diminution in the quality of the product of attest function engagements and thus should be prohibited except in the context of competitive negotiation based on a ranking of firms in light of their qualifications.

ISSUE I

THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 473.317, F.S., AND RULE 21A-24.003, F.A.C., ARE REGU-LATIONS OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT WITH ONLY AN INCIDENTAL IMPACT ON COMMERCIAL SPEECH AND THUS THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HOLDING THE STATUTE UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION IS IN ERROR.

Α

As this Court well knows, the statutes enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida and rules promulgated pursuant thereto are presumed to be constitutional and shall be upheld in the absence of a clear violation on the part of the Legislature of constitutional restraints and further that this Court shall indulge in all presumptions in favor of the constitutionality of the Legislature's enactments, see <u>State</u> <u>v. Kinner</u>, 398 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1981), and <u>Belk-James, Inc.</u>, <u>v. Nuzum</u>, 358 So.2d. 174 (Fla. 1978).

It is also clear that states' interests in regulating learned professions, such as certified public accountancy, are extremely important and entitled to great deference, even when under constitutional scrutiny, see <u>Douglas v. Noble</u>, 261 U.S. 165, 43 S.Ct. 303, 67 L.Ed. 590 (1923), and <u>Williamson v. Lee</u> <u>Optical of Oklahoma</u>, 348 U.S. 483, 75 S.Ct. 461, 99 L.Ed. 563 (1955).

Rampell and the District Court assert that the partial regulation of competitive negotiation on private attest function engagements contained in Section 473.317, F.S., and Rule 21A-

24.003, F.A.C., violate Rampell's First Amendment rights. The right alleged to be violated is the ability to submit a fee or basis of fee (as defined in the statute) either as part of a response to a proposal from a private client who wishes a CPA to perform an audit or review of the client's business and then "attest as an expert in accountancy" as that term is defined in Section 473.322(1)(c), F.S., or in a CPA's advertisement to obtain an attest engagement for a specific fee.

The provisions of Section 473.322(1)(c), F.S., and Rule 21A-24.003, F.A.C., require that a CPA seeking to perform the attest function for a private client, where there is a competitive selection, must initially submit to the prospective client only his objective qualifications and abilities with no fee or basis of fee included. The client is then required to rank the CPAs based on the objective qualifications of the various firms and then to commence negotiation with the top ranked firm and proceed down the list. Only at the time that negotiations have begun with each individual CPA firm in the ranking may a fee proposal be provided by the CPA to the prospective client. The clear rationale of the Legislature in requiring the abstinence from competitive fee bidding on the part of CPAs who are engaged in a competitive negotiation conducted by a private audit or review client, is to require the CPA to base his proposed fee for his services only upon what the CPA perceives as the actual scope of the attest engagement involved, and the CPA's own judgment as to the cost to his firm of providing the services required to comply

- 12 -

with the technical requirements for the presentation of an attested opinion on financial statements independent of any fee-based competition on the part of other CPAs interested in performing the engagement.³

In enacting this provision, the Legislature of the State of Florida has determined that fee-based competition as to private attest engagements would result in the undermining of the quality of the opinion rendered in such engagements and thus that such fee-based competition should be prohibited. The overriding public policy objective is that the independent auditor who renders an opinion on financial statements must base his fees and thus, to a large extent, the quality of the work performed, on the objective analysis of the scope of the attest engagement and the services which must be performed in order to meet an acceptable standard of public accounting practice and that those standards must not be lowered or even perceived to be lowered as the result of competitive price competition with other interested CPAs.

The initial analysis the District Court overlooked which must be used in determining whether the above-mentioned prohibitions pass constitutional muster is whether the statute and rule in question involve either a regulation of speech or of professional conduct. It is quite clear that the "power of

³ This type of procedure prohibiting fee-based competition prior to awarding government contracts is already in place in Florida as regards architects and engineers. See Section 287.055(4) and (5), F.S., and with regards to Architects and Engineers is the procedure followed for procurement in the Federal Government. See 40 U.S.C. Sections 541-544 (The "Brooks Architect-Engineer Act").

government to regulate the professions is not lost whenever the practice of a profession involves speech." See Lowe v. S.E.C., 471 U.S. 181,228, 105 S.Ct. 2557, 2582 L.Ed.2d (1985), Justice White concurring. As was stated in <u>Giboney v. Empire Storage</u> and Ice Company, 336 U.S. 490,502, 69 S.Ct. 684,690-691, 93 L.Ed.2d 834 (1949):

,`

It has never been deemed an abridgement of freedom of speech or press to make a course of conduct illegal merely because the conduct was in part initiated, evidenced or carried out by means of language either spoken, written or printed.

In analyzing the statute and rule in question, one must consider whether the statute involves the regulation of the conduct of a profession or a prohibition on speech. In <u>Lowe</u>, <u>supra</u>, Justice White, at 472 U.S. 231, quoted Justice Jackson in his concurring opinion in <u>Thomas v. Collins</u>, 323 U.S. 516,544-548, 65 S.Ct. 315,319-331, 89 L.Ed. 430 (1945), wherein Justice Jackson stated that:

> . . . So the state to an extent not necessary now to determine may regulate one who makes a business or livelihood of soliciting funds or memberships for unions. But I do not think that it can prohibit one, even if he is a salaried labor leader, from making an address to a public meeting of workmen telling them to unite in general or to join a specific union.

Justice Jackson continued to conclude that the distinguishing factor between that which is considered a regulation on the conduct of a profession and that which is considered a prohibition on speech is whether the speech in any particular case was "associated with some other factor which the State may regulate so as to bring the whole within official control." 323 U.S. at 547, 65 S.Ct. at 330.

Justice White continued in his analysis in Lowe, supra, at 472 U.S. 232, 105 S.Ct. at 224, that:

These ideas help to locate the point where regulation of a profession leaves off and prohibitions on speech begin. One who takes the affairs of a client personally in hand and purports to exercise judgment on behalf of the client in the light of the client's individual needs and circumstances is properly viewed as engaging in the practice of a profession. Just as offer and acceptance are communications incidental to the regulable transaction called a contract, the professional's speech is incidental to the conduct of the profession. the government enacts generally applicable licensing provisions limiting the class of persons who may practice the profession, it cannot be said to have enacted a limitation on the freedom of speech of the press subject to First Amendment scrutiny. Where the personal nexus between the professional and client does not exist and speaker does not purport to be exercising judgment on behalf of any particular individual with whose circumstances he is directly acquainted, government regulation ceases to function as legitimate regulation of professional practice with only incidental impact on speech; it becomes regulation of speaking or publishing as such, subject to

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