IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 79,371

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY,

Petitioner/Appellant,

-vs-

RICHARD RAMPELL,

Respondent/Appellee.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Robert M. Montgomery, Jr., Esq. MONTGOMERY & LARMOYEUX, P.A. 1016 Clearwater Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 and Philip M. Burlington, Esq. of EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A. Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondent/Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District properly ruled that the prohibition against competitive bidding imposed by <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. §473.317 is unconstitutional as violating the constitutional right to free speech under the Federal and State Constitutions. That statutory prohibition is properly analyzed as an infringement of free speech and not simply as a regulation of professional conduct since it clearly prevents the dissemination of truthful information about lawful activity. Moreover, the prohibition does not directly advance the governmental interest since it only restrains the dissemination of information to the public, which does not directly affect the professional conduct of CPAs.

The Fourth District erred in reversing the trial court's determination that the ban against direct, in-person, uninvited solicitation contained in <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. \$473.323(1) is unconstitutional. The Fourth District justified its holding on the basis that solicitation by CPAs infringes on the privacy of the public, and could involve possible harm or abuses. However, the Board never argued and, in fact, denied, that the statute was enacted to protect the public from solicitors. Moreover, the mere possibility that harm might occur from the solicitation is not a basis for upholding a blanket prohibition against it. The United States Supreme Court has held that to justify such a prophylactic ban the speech must be either inherently misleading or experience must show that it has injurious consequences. There is no evidence that such solicitation has been misleading, especially in view that CPA services are directed toward sophisticated clientele. Moreover, the mere possibility of harm is insufficient to justify the prophylactic ban. Therefore, the Fourth District erred in holding the prohibition constitutional.

The Fourth District also erred in reversing the trial court's ruling that <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. \$473.323(1) and the regulations promulgated by the Board implementing it are vague. The Fourth District did not address this issue, although it was a specific and separate holding of the trial court. The evidence shows that the Board interprets the prohibition in such a way that direct, in-person solicitation is permitted at civic organization meetings, social clubs, and trade shows; but not at, for example, opera guilds. Moreover, as the Board's experts demonstrated, the application of the definition of direct, in-person, uninvited solicitation was very difficult even with respect to simple hypotheticals.

In summary, this Court should uphold the Fourth District's determination that the prohibition against competitive bidding is unconstitutional and quash that portion of the Fourth District's order that holds the ban against direct, in-person, uninvited solicitation to be constitutional.

POINT ON APPEAL

THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE PROHIBITION AGAINST COMPETITIVE BIDDING CONTAINED IN <u>FLA</u>. <u>STAT</u>. <u>\$473.317</u> IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

ARGUMENT

The Board and the Amicus contend that the Fourth District erred in determining that the prohibition against competitive bidding, which precludes the dissemination of any information regarding the basis of a fee for audit services in a competitive setting, violates the First Amendment. Their contention that the suppression of such information is not protected by the First Amendment was clearly rejected by the United States Court in VIRGINIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY v. VIRGINIA CITIZENS CONSUMER COUNCIL, INC., 425 U.S. 748 (1976), as found by the Fourth District in this case; and as supported by subsequent United States Supreme Court decisions. Additionally, the Fourth District properly determined that the prohibition did not directly advance the governmental interest asserted, and that it is more extensive than necessary. Prior to discussing the legal principles involved, certain characterizations of the Board and the Amicus relating to the intent and effect of the prohibition must be addressed.

The Board contends that the "clear rationale of the legislature in enacting the prohibition" is (Appellant's Initial Brief p.12):

[T]o require the CPA to base his proposed fee for his services only upon what the CPA perceives as the actual scope of the attest engagement involved, and the CPA's own judgment as to the cost to his firm of providing the services required....

There is no legislative history supporting that characterization, and the language of the statute does not support it. If Florida were to enact a statute such as Texas, which precludes CPAs from providing services at below "direct cost", Ch. 646 \$20(a) (1989), perhaps that legislative motivation could be inferred. However, Fla. Stat. \$473.317 places absolutely no restrictions or even guidelines on how a CPA determines his proposed fee(s). If a CPA decides to minimize the work involved in performing the audit, or to bid a price below his actual cost, he can do so and still be in total conformity with the statute.

 $^{^{10}/}$ Strangely absent from that characterization is the profit motive, which the trial court found was the underlying motivation for the prohibition. The Board's concern for the protection of the attest function is relied upon to support a position that economically benefits the accounting profession as a whole, i.e., the prohibition against competitive bidding. However, the concern for the attest function does not motivate the Board to take action regarding the inherent conflict involved in a CPA providing management advisory services and acting as an auditor for the same client. Eliminating that obvious conflict would clearly ensure the integrity of the attest function, but would not be economically beneficial to the accounting profession.

The Amicus contends that the statute is designed to force clients and CPA's to focus on the quality of the audit, and not its price (Amicus Brief p.9, 11). There is absolutely no support for that assertion in either the statute or the record. <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. \$473.317 does not require a client to negotiate with the licensees in the order of their perceived quality; it only requires that the client do so "in order of preference." If a client is intent on obtaining the cheapest audit possible, he can certainly review the proposals with that consideration in mind and exercise a preference for the CPA(s) who appears to be willing to perform the least work to complete the audit. There is nothing in the statute which compels the CPA to focus on the quality of the audit. As noted by the Fourth District:

The regulations at issue do not directly advance the Government's interest as they do not prevent shoddy work [low quality audits]; they only eliminate price competition.

The Amicus' contention that the statute prevents "opinion shopping" is also unfounded. Nothing in the statute prohibits the client or the CPA from discussing the methods, motivations, or means for the proposed audit; the only subject that is prohibited is cost. Fla. Stat. \$473.317(4) provides:

> A licensee may respond to any request from a person or entity for a proposal giving qualifications and other factual information, excluding any quotation as to basis of fee.

Obviously, a client can engage in blatant "opinion shopping" without violating the statute.

The Board's contention that the statute involves regulation of the conduct of a professional or a prohibition on speech is without merit. Moreover, the statute prohibits the client's ability to obtain truthful information about lawful activity and, thus, even though it involves matters of commerce, it implicates the constitutional right to free speech, CENTRAL HUDSON GAS & ELECTRIC CORP. v. PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF NEW YORK, 477 U.S. 557, 566 (1980). The statute does not purport to affect the professional standards of the CPA, nor the considerations of the client. The cases relied upon by the Board to characterize the statute as simply a regulation of professional conduct are easily distinguishable.

In LOWE v. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 471 U.S. 181, 228 (1985), the SEC sought to enjoin the publishing of non-personalized investment advice by a person who was not a registered "investment advisor" for purposes of the Investment Advisor's Act. The majority opinion held that there was a statutory exclusion that permitted the publishing of the information, even though the author was not a registered investment advisor. Justice White (joined by Chief Justice Berger and Justice Rehnquist) concurred in the decision, but disagreed with the majority's reliance on the statutory exclusion. Justice White chose to premise the reversal on the basis that precluding publication of the investment advice violated the First Amendment.

In his concurring opinion, Justice White acknowledged that a government may restrict entry into professions through licensing, and that such restrictions do not necessarily implicate First Amendment protection. He also noted that it was not up to the legislature to decide when a statute involves professional regulation and when it involves regulation of speech. That was solely a function of the court, 105 S.Ct. at 2583. Justice White then concluded his analysis by stating (472 U.S. at 233):

> As applied to limit entry into the profession of providing investment advice tailored to the individual needs of each client, then, the Investment Advisers Act is not subject to scrutiny as a regulation of speech - it can be justified as a legitimate exercise of the power to license those who would practice a profession, and it is no more subject to constitutional attack than state-imposed limits on those who may practice the professions of law and medicine. <u>The application of the Act's enforcement</u> <u>provisions to prevent unregistered persons from engaging</u> in the business of publishing investment advice for the benefit of any who would purchase their publications, however, is a direct restraint on freedom of speech and of

> > $\mathbf{22}$

the press subject to the searching scrutiny called for by the First Amendment. [Emphasis supplied.]

Under that analysis, clearly the prohibition contained in <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. <u>\$473.317</u> must be analyzed as a direct restraint on freedom of speech since it does not involve any limitation on entry into the profession of public accountancy, it only restricts the dissemination of information. It directly limits the ability of the client to obtain truthful information about lawful activity.

GIBONE v. EMPIRE STORAGE AND ICE COMPANY, 336 U.S. 490 (1949), also does not support the Board's contentions. In that case, the Court upheld the application of a Missouri statute that prohibited agreements and combinations in restraint of trade to union members who attempted, through picketing, to prevent a company from selling goods to non-union workers. The conduct at issue, i.e., the agreement and combination to restrain trade was independent of the speech itself, and the court held that the state's regulation of it did not violate the First Amendment. The court also noted that the allegedly protected speech was solely intended to induce the company to violate the Missouri statute and, thus, did not involve harmful conduct.

The other cases cited by the Board are also distinguishable. ACCOUNTANT SOCIETY OF VIRGINIA v. BOWMAN, 860 F.2d 602 (4th Cir. 1988), upheld regulations prohibiting non-CPA's from using certain terms to describe their work, and from using certain terms to describe themselves to the public. The regulations at issue in that case did not in any way inhibit the dissemination of information, only its characterization in such a way as to create a misleading impression that the non-CPA was capable of performing the work of a CPA.

Similarly, ACCOUNTANTS ASSOCIATION OF LOUISIANA v. STATE, 533 So.2d 1251 (La.App. 1988), <u>pet</u>. <u>den</u>., 538 So.2d 593 (La. 1989), involved unlicensed accountants challenging a regulation prohibiting them from issuing review reports. The Court upheld the regulation and specifically noted (533 So.2d at 1254):

The rendering of financial reports such as an accountant's review report is not so much speech as it is the manner in which the accountant expresses himself in the practice of his profession -.

Clearly, the regulation in that case did not prohibit, in any way, the dissemination of information; it was merely intended to prevent confusion regarding the status of the unlicensed accountant.

HILL ASSOCIATES, INC. v. BRADSHAW, 674 F.2d 293 (4th Cir. 1982), bears no relation to the case <u>sub judice</u>. In that case, three non-resident securities brokers brought a suit challenging the constitutionality of the registration provision of the Virginia Securities Act which required them to register as a prerequisite to transacting business in the state. After discussing the various legal challenges, the court summarily rejected the First Amendment challenge, concluding that the registration provisions did not regulate commercial speech nor prohibit the nonresident securities brokers from advertising; they only imposed registration as a prerequisite.

As indicated above, none of the cases relied upon by the Board support its conclusion that the statute in this case only regulates professional conduct and is not a restriction on speech. The statute clearly prohibits the dissemination of pricing information by the CPA, as well as the ability of the client to discuss that subject. Therefore, clearly, the statute must be analyzed as a restriction on commercial speech.

In the Board's argument that the statute survives scrutiny under a commercial speech analysis, the Board makes an argument that is neither supported by the record, nor by logic. The Board contends that the provision of audit services to a client does not lend itself to "standardization or bidding," and, thus, competitive

bidding would be inherently deceptive. The Board cites Dooner's deposition pp. 101-03, as supporting that contention. In fact, nothing on those pages of Dooner's deposition address standardization or the impossibility of bidding on audit services. Every state except Florida permits competitive bidding for audit services. Moreover, Fla. Stat. \$473.317 permits a CPA to quote a fee once the licensee has been "selected." If bidding on attest functions is impossible and inherently deceptive, why is it permitted at that point? Clearly it is not impossible for it to be done in a non-deceptive manner. The Board's argument also ignores that the statute prohibits the disclosure of "a basis of fee," which includes any information regarding the minimum or maximum amounts, the hourly rate(s), or any other formula from which the estimated hours or a money amount can be determined, Rule 21A-24.003. Thus, the contention that the statute prohibits the disclosure of information because audits are not susceptible to "standardization or bidding" is obviously without merit since the statute prohibits any information regarding how the fee is computed, not simply a precise or firm estimate of the anticipated fee. As a result, the Board's contention that the information involved is necessarily misleading is without any factual or logical basis. As noted by the Fourth District, the pricing information at issue (589 So. 2d at 1358), "[C]an only be misleading if the CPA does not do what he or she contractually agrees to do for the price bid."

The Board's reliance on the GAO Report is without merit. As noted by the Fourth District, that study concluded that competitive negotiation is the preferred method of obtaining audit services, 589 So.2d at 1359.¹¹ The Fourth District also noted that the Board has produced no evidence that the quality of audits in Florida

 $^{^{11}}$ /Contrary to the contention of the Amicus, nothing in the GAO Report supports the contention that competitive bidding is misleading (Amicus Brief p.12).

is higher than those performed in other states where competitive bidding and price quotation is allowed. The Board has not challenged that observation in its brief.

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